General Conditions of Delivery

Version May 2018



Contents

Article 1	Definitions	3
Article 2	General provisions	3
Article 3	Price and payment	3
Article 4	Security, deposit, bank	4
Article 5	Non-disclosure	5
Article 6	Risk, title and duty of care	5
Article 7	Warranty	5
Article 8	Intellectual property rights	6
Article 9	Cooperation by customer	6
Article 10	Delivery times and non-fulfilment	7
Article 11	Term and termination of agreement	7
Article 12	Suspension	7
Article 13	Dissolution of agreement	8
Article 14	Liability of supplier; indemnification	8
Article 15	Force Majeure	8
Article 16	Alteration and expansion of work, services and/or delivieries	9
Article 17	Obligations under General Data Protection Regulation and telecommunications act	9
Article 18	Final provisions	9

Article 1 Definitions

'Agreement' means the arrangements agreed in a form or a document or in some other way under which Supplier will deliver to Customer the goods and/or Services defined therein.

'Customer' means the party acting in the pursuit of an occupation or business with whom Supplier has entered into an Agreement for the delivery of goods and Services subject to these General Conditions.

'Facilities' means all cables, peripherals, meters or other equipment, modems, smartcards and related user documentation and software that are and shall remain the property of Supplier and that Customer rents or loans from Supplier or that Supplier has provided or installed at Customer's premises for the purposes of the Services within the framework of an Agreement.

'General Conditions' means these General Conditions of Delivery.

'Party or Parties' means the Customer or Supplier individually ('Party') or collectively ('Parties').

'Service Description' means an annex to the Agreement that describes the Service.

'Services' means electronic communication, ICT or other related services deliverable to Customer by or on behalf of Supplier.

'Supplementary Conditions' means the conditions that supplementary to the General Conditions are applicable to the delivery of specific products and/or Services.

'Supplier' means all Dutch subsidiaries of Koninklijke KPN N.V., including but not limited to KPN B.V.

Public electronic communications service: an electronic communications service provided so as to be available for use by members of the public, consisting in, or having as its principal feature, the conveyance by means of an electronic communications network of signals, except insofar as it is a content service.

Article 2 General provisions

- 2.1 These General Conditions apply to all offers and Agreements under which Supplier delivers any goods and/or Services to Customer.
- 2.2 If conflicts exist between provisions in the Agreement, Service Description, General Conditions and

Supplementary Conditions, the following precedence shall apply:

- 1 Agreement
- 2 Service Description
- 3 Supplementary Conditions
- 4 General Conditions
- 2.3 Conditions of purchase or other conditions of Customer and/or third parties shall not apply under any circumstances whatsoever. Supplier's signature or acceptance (tacit or otherwise) of documents of Customer and/or third parties declared subject to such general conditions shall not constitute their acceptance.
- 2.4 Agreements and changes thereto shall be established:
 - a by signature and on the date of signature by both Parties of an offer submitted by Supplier or some other document;
 - b on the date of receipt of Supplier's written confirmation of its acceptance of Customer's application;
 - c if Customer enables Supplier to start performing the work or deliver the service.

Article 3 Price and payment

- 3.1 All prices and rates are stated in euro exclusive of value added tax (VAT) and other government levies. Travel time, travel and subsistence expenses, extra hours and other costs attached to the work are not included in the prices and rates and may be billed separately by Supplier.
- 3.2 KPN may annually increase the prices and rates as of 1 June in accordance with the Consumer Price Index published by Statistics Netherlands (CBS) over the previous period 1 January – 31 December. No price adjustment shall be implemented in any year where the published price index is negative.
- 3.3 Supplier reserves the right to increase the agreed prices and rates once a year over and above the annual price index-linking subject to notification of Customer at least four weeks in advance. A price increase under this article 3.3 shall give Customer the right to cancel the Agreement without charge only in the following cases:
 - a if the price increase concerns a public electronic communications service; or

- b if the price amendment does not concern a public electronic communications service and the price increase exceeds 5%.
- 3.4 As a result of the specific regulatory obligations (de Marktanalysebesluiten) imposed on Supplier by the Authority for Consumers & Markets (ACM) –formerly OPTA- at the time of effectuation of the agreement between parties, Supplier is obligated to maintain a specific price distance between the agreed prices in the agreement and its wholesale procurement prices in order to ensure that Supplier's competitors can procure the same products and services with Supplier and can provide a competitive offer to customers.

Only in the event:

- That, during the term of the Agreement, a regulatory change occurs that has direct and relevant consequences for (execution of) the Agreement or parts of the Agreement, or
- 2. As a result of increase of the Supplier wholesale procurement prices or a relevant alteration in the agreed portfolio of services between parties in the Agreement, the distance between the agreed prices and the wholesale procurement prices is insufficient to comply with Supplier's specific regulatory obligations, as Suppliers competitors are unable to provide a competitive offer as they have to procure this same service from Supplier, Supplier will have the right to give Customer written notice of the required amendment(s) of the agreed terms and conditions or prices.

In the event that Customer does not accept the required amendment(s), either party will have the right to terminate the relevant Agreement from the date that the required amendments have to be implemented.

- 3.5 Supplier shall invoice amounts owed by Customer in the following way:
 - a non-recurring amounts shall be billed on the date of delivery or supply;
 - b periodical amounts shall be billed in advance and shall be payable from the date of delivery or start of use of the Service;

- c usage charges and amounts for time and materials shall be billed monthly in arrears.
- 3.6 Customer shall pay all invoices by the due dates stated on each invoice. A payment term of 21 (twenty-one) days from the invoice date shall apply, unless explicitly agreed otherwise. In case Parties have agreed on payment by direct debit, Supplier shall announce on the invoice on which date the invoice amount shall de debited from the account of Customer.
- 3.7 Objections to invoiced amounts shall be made known to Supplier in writing before the due date, in the absence of which Parties shall accept the accuracy of the invoiced amounts after expiry of the due date. The data kept by Supplier shall determine the amounts owed by Customer, unless Customer demonstrates that the data are incorrect.
- 3.8 Customer shall be in default without further notice on failure to pay amounts owed by the due date. Supplier shall then be entitled to charge interest at the statutory rate within the meaning of article 6:119 (a) and article 6:120 of the Dutch Civil Code (statutory interest for late payment) and to fair reimbursement of legal and out-of-court expenses and debt collection costs.
- 3.9 Customer shall not be entitled to make any set-offs.
- 3.10 Customer shall only be entitled to suspend payment of a disputed part of the debt. Customer shall inform Supplier within five working days of its reasons for seeking recourse to suspension of payment.

Article 4 Security, deposit, bank guarantee

- 4.1 Supplier shall have the right to require security from Customer in the form of a bank guarantee, deposit or some other kind of security if legitimate doubt exists about Customer's ability to fulfil its payment obligation.
- 4.2 The security amount shall not exceed the amount that Customer will owe Supplier over a period of six months for the agreed goods and/or Services.
- 4.3 At such time as the need for security no longer exists, Supplier shall notify Customer that the security or bank guarantee or other form of security may be discontinued or, as the case may be, shall refund the deposit.
- 4.4 No interest shall be payable over the deposit.

Article 5 Non-disclosure

5.1 Parties shall keep confidential all information and data received from each other insofar as marked confidential or evidently confidential from its nature, unless a legal obligation exists to disclose such information and/or data. The non-disclosure obligation shall end one year after the Agreement ends.

Article 6 Risk, title and duty of care

- 6.1 The risk of destruction, loss, theft or degradation of items shall transfer to Customer at the time of delivery.
- 6.2 Supplier shall retain title to the items until such time as Customer has paid all owed amounts. Until obtaining ownership Customer shall refrain from selling, mortgaging or pledging the items and shall not rent or loan them out or in any other way make them available to third parties under any title whatsoever.
- 6.3 The risk of destruction, loss, theft or degradation of a Facility shall transfer to Customer at the time of its supply or installation at premises of Customer or its provision to Customer in any other way.
- 6.4 Customer shall ensure that Facilities are installed at a suitable place that is dry and free of vibration. Customer shall leave intact the type numbers, serial numbers, logos and/or other markings placed on the Facilities.
- 6.5 Customer shall not have the right to make any changes to Facilities (including changes to accompanying software or software implemented in Facilities) or to relocate or damage them or to commission parties other than Supplier to install or relocate them unless with the prior consent of Supplier.
- 6.6 Customer shall immediately inform Supplier if items or Facilities are the subject of actual or impending seizure or if in any other way the ownership rights of Supplier or its engaged third parties are in danger of being harmed. Supplier shall have the right to recover the items from Customer for such time as their ownership is vested in Supplier. The cost of such recovery shall be payable by Customer. Customer shall afford Supplier access to the place where the items are located.

Article 7 Warranty

7.1 Supplier shall deliver goods and Services in accordance

with the technical and/or functional specifications as agreed in the Agreement. Supplier shall not guarantee uninterrupted or faultless delivery of Services.

- 7.2 a Items shall be covered by a warranty of one year that shall start on the date of delivery.
 - b The warranty on items includes free repair or replacement of the items (or parts thereof) in the event of material and/or manufacturing faults. The warranty excludes the supply and/or replacement of consumables. Replaced parts shall automatically become the property of Supplier.
 - c No warranty shall be provided for items Customer is unable to demonstrate were delivered by Supplier to Customer within the term of the warranty.
- 7.3 a System software shall be covered by a warranty of three months that shall start the day after delivery of such software.
 - b The warranty on systems software shall include free localisation and correction of errors if the software fails to function in conformity with the technical and functional specifications agreed between Parties.
 - c Supplier does not warranty that system software shall function uninterrupted and completely error-free or that all errors shall be corrected.
- 7.4 Work covered by the warranty shall be performed only in the Netherlands at an address stated by Supplier.
- 7.5 The warranty shall be invalidated if:
 - parties other than Supplier repaired, altered or expanded the items without the prior written consent of Supplier;
 - 2 in Supplier's opinion the items have been neglected or used, treated and/or maintained carelessly and/or injudiciously;
 - 3 type numbers, serial numbers and/or warranty stickers have been damaged, removed and/or altered;
 - 4 changes have been made to the warranty certificate and/or purchase slip;
 - 5 defects have occurred due to incorrect insertion and/ or leakage of replaceable batteries;
 - 6 defects have occurred due to failure to connect and/ or install (approved) items in accordance with the directions;
 - 7 defects have occurred due to nonconforming

ambient conditions, insofar as such conditions were specified;

- 8 defects have occurred through other external causes;
- 9 the seal of items, if present, has been broken.
- 7.6 If Supplier has delivered items under a manufacturer's warranty, the only warranty terms and conditions that shall apply shall be those of the manufacturer.
- 7.7 The warranty term shall not be extended or renewed through performance of work under the warranty, with the proviso that the work performed under the warranty (including replaced parts) shall be covered by a three-month guarantee.
- 7.8 Any shipping or callout costs incurred may be billed to Customer.

Article 8 Intellectual property rights

- 8.1 Subject to the limitations and conditions set forth in the Agreement, Supplier shall grant Customer a nonexclusive, non-transferable right to use the software, hardware or other items and Facilities delivered or provided in connection with the Agreement in the form in which delivered or provided, but solely for internal purposes and to the extent necessary to use the Services delivered under the Agreement.
- 8.2 The intellectual or industrial property rights attached to all software, hardware or other items and Facilities, including documentation, provided by Supplier to Customer under or pursuant to the Agreement shall be vested in Supplier or its suppliers and/or in the thirdparty that Supplier authorised to provide Customer with the software, hardware or other items. Customer shall obtain only those rights explicitly assigned in the Agreement.
- 8.3 Supplier shall exercise its best efforts to ensure that Customer's use of the software, hardware and other items and Facilities provided by Supplier for the purposes of the Services do not infringe the intellectual or other property rights of third parties.
- 8.4 Supplier shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend Customer against third-party claims related to alleged infringement of their intellectual or industrial property rights by software, hardware or other items and Facilities provided by Supplier for the Service(s), provided always

that Customer (i) immediately informs Supplier of such claims, (ii) refrains from acknowledging the claims, and (iii) cooperates in putting up a defence against such claims. The indemnification obligation shall cease to exist if and to the extent that the alleged infringement is reasonably ascribable to misuse of or alterations to the software, hardware or other items by Customer, its customers, associated companies, agents or subcontractors and, if the (alleged) infringement relates to an indirect infringement, or if the (alleged) infringement stems from a combination of the software, hardware or other items delivered for the Agreement with other products, software or elements not provided by Supplier.

- 8.5 If a court of law has ruled irrevocably that an act or omission by Supplier has resulted in Customer infringing the intellectual or industrial property rights of third parties, Supplier shall, at its election:
 - a take measures to end the infringement, such as replacing the infringing Service by another functionally equivalent service or by altering the Service so that it ceases to infringe but remains functionally equivalent, or
 - b end the Services and refund to Customer any amounts already received for Services not yet rendered.

Article 9 Cooperation by customer

- 9.1 Customer shall provide on time in all instances all information that may be useful and required for performance of the Agreement and shall guarantee that provided information shall be correct and complete.
- 9.2 Supplier shall have the right to suspend performance of the Agreement if Customer fails to provide, provide on time or provide in accordance with the arrangements any information and devices required for performance of the Agreement, or in any other way fails to fulfil its obligations.
- 9.3 Customer shall at all times provide employees of Supplier access to places where work must be performed or Services must be provided.

Article 10 Delivery times and non-fulfilment

- 10.1 All delivery times stated by Supplier shall be approximate and shall never be construable as deadlines. If Supplier does not meet a delivery time it shall not constitute as a breach by Supplier.
- 10.2 Supplier and Customer shall consult with each other as soon as possible in the event of an impending overshoot of a delivery time.
- 10.3 Supplier shall not be in default (verzuim) until after Customer has served Supplier with a written notice of non-fulfilment that afforded a reasonable time for rectification and after Supplier has failed to fulfil within such reasonable time.

Article 11 Term and termination of agreement

- 11.1 An Agreement concluded for a fixed term shall be tacitly renewed on expiry of the initial contract term for an indefinite period of time, unless Customer terminates the Agreement by giving one (1) month written notice prior to expiry of the initial contractual term, or unless Supplier terminates the Agreement by giving three (3) months written notice prior to the expiry of the initial contract term. Agreements that by their nature may not be entered into for more than five (5) years under prevailing legislation shall not be tacitly renewed on expiry of those five (5) years. Such agreements may however be renewed at the initialize of Customer.
- 11.2 An Agreement, either concluded or renewed for an indefinite period of time, may be terminated by Customer by giving Supplier one (1) month written notice, unless Parties have agreed on a notice period of three (3) months at the specific request of Customer. Supplier may terminate the Agreement, subject to prior consultation and through written notice that states the reasons for termination. For the avoidance of doubt Customer may only terminate the Agreement after expiry of any agreed contractual minimum term. In the event Parties have not agreed on a period of notice, a notice period of three (3) months shall apply for Supplier. Agreements, either concluded or renewed for an indefinite period of time that by their nature may not be entered into for more than five (5) years under prevailing legislation shall be converted to a fixed-term

Agreement. These agreements may however be renewed at the initiative of Customer.

- 11.3 If Customer terminates a service prior to expiry of the fixed contractual term (minimum or otherwise), Supplier shall be entitled to the remaining charges that would have been owed if the Agreement had not been terminated in the interim.
- 11.4 Supplemental to the provisions made in the previous clauses of this Article 11, Supplier shall be entitled to end the Service(s), subject to prior notice of at least three months, if necessitated by technical or business economics reasons. Supplier shall offer a replacement service where possible . If Customer declines to accept the Service, or if a replacement Service is unavailable, the Agreement shall end on the date that Supplier ends provision of the Service.
- 11.5 The provisions of article 11.4 shall also apply if Supplier can no longer have at its disposal specific products and/ or services provided by third parties for reasons beyond Supplier's control.

Article 12 Suspension

- 12.1 Supplemental to the suspension grounds existing at law, Supplier shall have the right to suspend the provision of service forthwith, in full or in part, and, if applicable, to disconnect or switch off Hardware and data cables of Customer from Supplier's installations, hardware and/or network or bar electronic access to them, if:
 - a a governmental authority or regulator obliges Supplier to take such action;
 - b such action is necessary to comply with (or enforce) legislation or amended legislation;
 - c Supplier must take such action to carry out a court order or judgement;
 - d the quality or availability of the services that Supplier delivers to other customers is being impaired or is in danger of being impaired due to the behaviour of Customer or its personnel, or by the hardware or cables of Customer;
 - e the safety of persons or goods is being impaired or is in danger of being impaired due to the behaviour of Customer or its personnel;
 - f situations exist where immediate action must be

taken, for example to protect the safety of persons or the integrity of the network;

- g legitimate reasons exist for assuming that the provision or use of information or services via the Service is illegal or is unlawful in relation to third parties.
- 12.2 Customer shall be obliged to pay all charges payable throughout the period of suspension as referred to in article 12.1.
- 12.3 Insofar as Supplier has suspended the provision of service on account of Customer's failure to fulfil an obligation, Supplier shall have the right to charge reconnection fees on resumption of the service.

Article 13 Dissolution of agreement

- 13.1 Supplemental to the dissolution grounds that exist at law, Supplier shall have the right to dissolve the Agreement forthwith, in full or in part, without recourse to the courts and without serving notice of non-fulfilment, if Customer:
 - has petitioned for or been granted suspension of payments;
 - b has been declared bankrupt or is the subject of a petition for bankruptcy.

Article 14 Liability of supplier; indemnification

- 14.1 The total liability of Supplier, for any reason whatsoever, shall be limited to compensation for the following damage and to the maximum amounts stated from case to case:
 - a death and personal injury: up to a maximum of
 € 1,500,000 per event, with a series of interrelated events counting as one event;
 - b damage to property: reasonable costs of repair or replacement, up to a maximum of € 500,000 per event;
 - c damage demonstrably incurred by Customer due to the unavailability of a Service, and the damage is due to an imputable failure or administrative error by Supplier, up to a maximum of € 2,500 per disadvantaged party, with a series of interrelated events counting as one event, subject to a maximum of € 250,000 per event;

d reasonable costs demonstrably incurred for prevention of limitation of damage: up to a maximum of € 250,000 per event, with a series of interrelated events counting as one event.

Damage referred to above in b, c and d shall be subject to an absolute maximum of \in 1,000,000 for the term of the Agreement.

- 14.2 The limitations of liability stated in article 14.1 shall not apply in the case of damage caused deliberately or through intentional misconduct, by the managing board of Supplier.
- 14.3 Under no circumstances whatsoever shall Supplier be liable for damage not mentioned in article 14.1, including but not confined to lost profits, missed savings, loss of data, damage through stagnation of operations, de-staffing, penalties and charges owed to third parties and impaired goodwill.
- 14.4 Establishment of any right to compensation shall in each instance be conditional upon Customer reporting such damage to Supplier in writing within three months of its occurrence.
- 14.5 The limitations of liability stated in this article shall apply mutatis mutandis to indemnification.
- 14.6 If supplementary to the right to compensation Parties have agreed a penalty, any contractual penalties forfeited and amounts paid and/or payable under indemnifications shall be deducted from any compensation regarding the same event.
- 14.7 Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless Supplier and its employees for all claims lodged by third parties, in particular third-party claims on account of product liability due to a deficiency in a product or system delivered by Customer to a third party that consisted in part of hardware, software, websites, databases or other materials supplied by Supplier, except if and to the extent that Customer proves that the damage was caused by such hardware, software, websites, databases or other materials.

Article 15 Force Majeure

- 15.1 Neither Party shall be bound to fulfil any obligation if prevented from doing so by force majeure.
- 15.2 Insofar as not already included, force majeure shall

further mean instances of strikes, company sit-ins, blockades, embargoes, government measures, war, revolution and/or any similar state, power failures, faults in electronic communication lines, cable breaks, fires, explosions, water damage, lightning damage, natural disasters, flooding and/or earthquake, shortage of and/ or sickness of personnel and non-fulfilment by suppliers of Supplier or force majeure on the part of suppliers of Supplier.

15.3 If force majeure lasts longer than ninety (90) days, each Party shall have the right to end the Agreement through written notice by registered letter, unless it appears likely that the force majeure will be resolved within a reasonable period of time. Anything already delivered under the Agreement shall be paid for proportionately, without Parties owing each other anything further.

Article 16 Alteration and expansion of work, services and/or deliveries

- 16.1 If Supplier has performed work, other services or other deliveries outside the content or scope of the agreed matters at the request or with the consent of Customer, Supplier shall receive payment for such work, service of deliveries in accordance with its customary rates or, if a fixed price has been agreed, the additional costs shall be charged. However, Supplier shall not be under obligation to meet such a request and may require conclusion of a separate written agreement.
- 16.2 Customer accepts that alteration or expansion of the work, services or deliveries within the meaning of this article may affect the agreed or expected time of completion of obligations, mutual responsibilities of Customer and Supplier and agreed rates of Supplier.

Article 17 Obligations under General Data Protection Regulation and telecommunications act

- 17.1 Parties shall afford each other every cooperation to enable the other Party to fulfil its obligations under the General Data Protection Regulation and, in the case of Supplier, under the Telecommunications Act.
- 17.2 In all instances Customer shall inform Supplier timely and properly of whether data processing for the purpose of an Agreement falls under the General Data

Protection Regulation and whether the Dutch Data Protection Authority or the data protection officer of Customer has been notified of the processing. Customer shall reimburse Supplier for any work and/or costs necessary in respect of obligations mentioned in this article.

- 17.3 Customer shall ensure that the person with responsibility for data protection within the meaning of the General Data Protection Regulation fulfils all obligations under the Act. Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless Supplier for all and any claims lodged by third parties against Supplier under the General Data Protection Regulation.
- 17.4 Supplier shall have the right to block transmission of unwanted communication within the meaning of Section11.7 of the Telecommunication, Act, such as spam, malware and viruses.
- 17.5 In case KPN supplies Customer with a Public Electronic Communication Service and this Service was completely not available due to a network outage for a period longer than 12 consecutive hours, Customer will be entitled to compensation unless the outage is a result of inundation, acts of terrorism or war. The compensation will be limited to one thirtieth of the monthly fee for the service per 24 hour or, if no monthly fees are applicable, at least € 0.50 per 24 hours. The minimal compensation per outage will in any event be € 1. Further information regarding to the compensation scheme and how Customers can make claims can be found on www.kpn.com

Article 18 Final provisions

- 18.1 Dutch law shall govern the Agreement. The Agreement excludes application of the United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods 1980.
- 18.2 Any disputes between Parties arising from or related to the Agreement shall be exclusively submitted to a court of law with jurisdiction in Amsterdam.
- 18.3 Supplier shall be entitled to amend these General Conditions. An amendment shall take effect four weeks after its announcement or on a later date as may be cited in the announcement.

- 18.4 Supplier shall be entitled to modify a Service or to replace certain parts of the Service by other parts at any time, subject to retention of the fundamental nature of the Service. Section 7.2 of the Telecommunications Act shall apply to modifications that concern a public electronic communication service.
- 18.5 Rights granted to Customer by Supplier for use of Services shall be strictly personal. Unless explicitly otherwise agreed, it shall be prohibited for Customer to resell or cause the resale of such rights or to make them available to third parties in any other way.
- 18.6 For the term of the Agreement and one year thereafter, each Party shall refrain from employing employees of the other Party who were involved in performance of the Agreement, or to cause them to work for it in any other way, directly or indirectly, without the prior written permission of the other Party. The other Party shall have the right to attach conditions to such permission.
- 18.7 Supplier shall be entitled to engage third parties to fulfil all or some of its obligations under the Agreement. However, this shall not in any way relieve Supplier of its obligations.
- 18.8 Supplier shall be entitled to assign the Agreement(s) with Customer to other companies in Supplier's group and/or to third Parties. Customer shall not withhold its cooperation or delay such assignment on unreasonable grounds. Supplier shall inform Customer of such an assignment.
- 18.9 Customer shall send all correspondence and notifications for the purposes of an agreement to the address of the designated person or department.
- 18.10If provisions or parts of provisions in these General Conditions or annexes are or become unlawful, invalid or unenforceable, the surviving provisions or the valid part of the invalid provision shall remain fully in force and enforceable, without any consequences for the other obligations of Parties. The unlawful, invalid or unenforceable provision shall be deemed replaced by a provision that as far as possible has the same legal and commercial purport.